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Powering ahead 
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Financial Highlights
(millions of U.S. dollars, except share data)

2005 2004 2003

Net sales $52.9 $30.8 $35.7
Operating income $ 7.2 $ 0.2 $ 1.0
Net income $ 7.6 $ 1.6 $ 1.1

Net income per Common Share:
 Basic $0.38 $0.08 $0.06
 Diluted $0.33 $0.07 $0.05

Average Common Shares outstanding (000):
 Basic 20,043 19,517 19,637
 Diluted 23,066 22,155 22,412

Net cash provided by operating activities $11.5 $ 0.7 $ 1.7

Cash and short-term investments* $16.4 $ 6.5 $ 7.8
Working capital* $19.6 $11.3 $11.0
Shareholders’ equity* $29.1 $19.0 $17.3

Closing stock price per Common Share* $9.07 $4.67 $3.55

* At year end

Fuel-Tech N.V. (NASDAQ:FTEK) is a leading technology company engaged in the worldwide development, 
commercialization and application of state-of-the-art proprietary technologies for air pollution control,  
process optimization, and advanced engineering services. The Company’s core activities center on its 
proprietary nitrogen oxide (NOx) reduction processes and its unique application of chemicals to improve 
combustion unit performance. Both of these businesses rely heavily on the Company’s exceptional compu-
tational fluid dynamics modeling skills, which are enhanced by internally developed, high-end visualization 
software. Additional information can be found at www.fueltechnv.com.

About Fuel-Tech N.V.
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A Letter to Our Shareholders
We are pleased to report that 2005 was a year of unparal-
leled financial and operating success for your company. 
Along with truly exceptional results, we believe Fuel Tech 
has positioned itself to enjoy a period of accelerating 
growth, while delivering superior financial performance 
to its shareholders.

Financial highlights for the year just ended are summa-
rized below:

 •  Net sales totaled a record $52.9 million, up 72%, as 
strong gains were registered across all key identifiable 
segments. Sales for the Air Pollution Control (APC) 
business more than doubled to a record $32.6 million, 
while sales for the FUEL CHEM® business rose 25% to 
a record $20.3 million. Geographically, foreign sales 
also reached an all-time high, advancing to $11.2 mil-
lion, versus $4.7 million in 2004.

•  Net income surged to a record $7.6 million, or $0.33 per 
diluted share, compared with $1.6 million, or $0.07 
per diluted share, in 2004. It should be noted that 
results for both years were favorably affected by the 
recording of non-cash tax benefits related to the antici-
pated utilization of deferred tax assets. Pre-tax net 
income stood at $7.2 million in 2005 versus $0.2 mil-
lion in 2004.

•  Net cash provided by operating activities (or operating 
cash flow) totaled a record $11.5 million, enabling Fuel 
Tech to end the year with cash and short-term invest-
ments of $16.4 million, its largest position ever.

•  Backlogs also ended the year at record levels, with $28 
million of orders in process by the APC group.

•  The collective efforts of the Company were recognized 
in the financial marketplace as Fuel-Tech N.V.’s 

Common Share price surged 94%, ending 2005 at 
$9.07, its highest year-end closing price since 1993.

Underlying this financial performance was an unprece-
dented level of business activity throughout the organiza-
tion, which will also serve to power Fuel Tech’s growth in 
the years ahead.

•  The domestic APC business benefited from two key 
alliance agreements with major electric utilities. Our 
Midwestern alliance partner placed orders for four 
additional NOxOUT® Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction 
(SNCR) systems, while our Southeastern alliance part-
ner placed orders for three. Going forward, business 
with the Midwest utility is expected to wind down, 
while activity with the Southeastern utility will remain 
strong as numerous orders are anticipated during the 
next several years. Also on the utility side, a number of 
SNCR demonstration projects were recently concluded 
and several of these should result in commercial busi-
ness during 2006.

•  On the domestic APC industrial side, an order was 
placed by Lee County, Florida for installation of a 
NOxOUT system on a new, large municipal solid waste 
combustor to be operated by Covanta Lee, Inc. This 
contract reflects a growing trend in new waste-to-
energy facility construction as existing landfill capacity 
becomes exhausted. An order was also received from 
Solvay Chemicals, Inc. for installation of NOxOUT 
technology on a calciner at a soda ash plant, represent-
ing Fuel Tech’s first project in the trona fields of 
Wyoming. A follow-up order was received from Solvay 
early in 2006.

•  The Company’s patented NOxOUT ULTRA® process, 
which provides for the safe and cost-effective on-site 

Shown left to right: Ralph E. Bailey, Douglas G. Bailey, Steven C. Argabright

72%
Net Sales during 2005 increased



conversion of urea to ammonia for use as a reagent in 
the Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR) of nitrogen 
oxide (NOx), will be incorporated in two new applica-
tions, the first on a large, coal-fired boiler in the 
Midwest, representing the fourth such order from this 
utility, and the second on a new, gas-fired turbine in 
California, which represents a potentially promising 
niche market for this technology.

•  The FUEL CHEM business continues to gain market 
acceptance through the use of its proprietary TIFI™ 
Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ program, which is 
designed to control slagging, fouling and related com-
bustion unit problems in a highly cost-effective manner. 
During 2005 we announced TIFI installations on 14 
units utilizing a variety of solid and liquid fuels, both in 
the utility and industrial sectors. This technology is 
particularly well suited for Western coals, which have a 
tendency to slag due to the presence of sodium. Fuel 
Tech’s ability both to serve certain existing customer 
accounts and convert others to its technology was ham-
pered somewhat by rail disruptions beginning in May 
2005, which restricted coal shipments out of the Powder 
River Basin of Wyoming and Montana. While this con-
dition will reportedly continue into 2006, we fully 
expect to add a number of new accounts to our expand-
ing customer base.

•  Fuel Tech’s European operation experienced solid 
growth during 2005, reflecting gains in the APC seg-
ment coupled with its very first FUEL CHEM orders. 
On the APC side, the Company was awarded NOxOUT 
system contracts covering seven units in France, Italy 
and Belgium. Four of these projects focused on cement 
plants, which represent a targeted industry. Early in 
2005, and again in the fourth quarter, FUEL CHEM 
programs were initiated on two coal-fired units in a 
northern Italian power plant. This repeat business 
attests to the high degree of customer satisfaction with 
a technology that enables the preferred use of lower 
cost, lower quality thermal coals without concern for 
slagging issues.

A key ongoing strategy for the Company is to penetrate 
new geographic and product markets. We are pleased to 
report that Fuel Tech was particularly successful in doing 
so during 2005.

•  The People’s Republic of China (PRC) represents a 
market of truly vast potential. As the world’s largest 
coal-consuming country, the PRC relies on this fossil  

  fuel for approximately 70% of its power production. 
Coupled with the world’s fastest growing electric power 
industry, independent projections suggest that the PRC 
will require some 325 new, large coal-fired boilers  
during the next five years. Equally important, it is 
anticipated that many of these units will have some 
form of NOx control imposed upon them.

  Against this backdrop, Fuel Tech was awarded two NOx 
reduction contracts in Jiangsu Province during 2005, 
totaling $15.3 million. The first contract calls for instal-
lation of NOxOUT technology on four newly con-
structed, 600 megawatt coal-fired boilers at Ligang 
Electric Power Company Limited, while the second 
covers installation of advanced hybrid NOxOUT tech-
nology on two new, 600 megawatt supercritical boilers 
at China Power Investment Corporation’s Kanshan 
power plant.

  The Kanshan project is but one example of Fuel Tech’s 
expertise in layering multiple NOx reduction technolo-
gies to achieve a desired outcome, which may prove 
particularly beneficial in the PRC. In this case, a hybrid 
approach will incorporate SNCR systems plus a con-
ceptual design to upgrade the units by adding down-
sized SCR catalyst at a future date. The Kanshan project 
is being developed in cooperation with China’s National 
Power Combustion Center and will serve as a national 
demonstration project for NOx reduction.

•  Mexico represents another area of immense opportu-
nity. Unlike the PRC, which is principally coal depen-
dent, Mexico’s electricity generation is heavily reliant 
on heavy fuel oil. Due to the presence of vanadium and 
nickel in high-sulfur Mexican crude oils, there is a ten-
dency for heavy slag build-up in oil-fired combustion 
units, as well as acid gas and particulate emissions.

  Recognizing the potential for utilizing TIFI technology 
to solve these challenging problems, the Company 
participated in an extensive pilot test at a government-
run facility, a prerequisite for entering the Mexican 
market. The test was deemed extremely successful and, 
early in 2006, led to an order from Fuel Tech’s distribu-
tor in Mexico for design services and equipment for 
initiation of chemical injection on three small boilers 
owned by Comision Federal de Electricidad (CFE), the 
Mexican national utility. We are confident that this first 
commercial-scale application will be successful and act 
as a stepping stone to additional Mexican business in 
the future.
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•  In the United States, TIFI technology was successfully 
applied to a major utility boiler burning Illinois Basin 
(IB) coals, marking our first demonstration on this 
abundant fuel. Typically high in sulfur and BTU con-
tent, IB coals often contain high levels of certain impu-
rities such as iron, which can create severe slagging 
problems in certain boilers. Also noteworthy was a suc-
cessful demonstration using a TIFI derivative, the 
TDI™ Targeted Duct Injection™ process, on an oil-
fired boiler that was plagued by acid emission and 
opacity issues partially arising from the use of an SCR 
system for NOx reduction. The TDI process injects 
chemicals directly into a duct, thereby reducing emissions 
caused by the oxidation of sulfur dioxide (SO2) to sulfur 
trioxide (SO3). Other acid gas emission control demon-
strations on coal-fired units are anticipated during 2006.

  As a result of new environmental legislation mandating 
installation of SO2 scrubbers, along with sharply esca-
lating SO2 emission allowance prices that also encour-
age the use of scrubbers, IB coals are fast becoming 
an attractive fuel alternative for utilities predisposed to 
adding scrubbers in their system. We believe these 
changing market dynamics are presenting new oppor-
tunities for Fuel Tech and we are currently assessing 
their market potential.

Each of the foregoing initiatives bodes well for future 
growth in our core businesses and we will continue to 
pursue new markets where the Company’s technologies 
offer unique solutions to the most challenging problems.

 * * *

We are truly gratified by the Company’s tremendous suc-
cess in 2005 and the powerful momentum it has created. 
The key to 2006 will be execution — and this will be our  

primary focus as we work to exploit the many opportunities 
before us. Based on current trends in the marketplace, we 
anticipate Fuel Tech enjoying another year of strong finan-
cial results, with revenues increasing by some 23%–32% 
to $65–$70 million.

We are pleased to report that, effective February 28, 2006, 
John F. Norris Jr. was elected President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Fuel Tech, Inc., the wholly owned 
subsidiary of Fuel-Tech N.V. We welcome John, a former 
senior executive at American Electric Power and Duke 
Energy Corporation, to the Fuel Tech team and look for-
ward to his leadership in guiding the Company through a 
period of planned rapid expansion and growth. 
Additionally, we would like to acknowledge and thank 
Steven C. Argabright for his 16 years of invaluable ser-
vice and dedication to the Company. Steve, the former 
President and Chief Operating Officer of Fuel Tech, Inc., 
has been instrumental in enhancing shareholder value and 
financial performance during his tenure, while advancing 
our position as a leading technology company.

We would also like to express our appreciation for  
the efforts of our employees and for the support of our 
shareholders and Board of Directors in making 2005 a 
year of outstanding accomplishment.

Sincerely,

Ralph E. Bailey
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

April 6, 2006
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Air Pollution Control

NOXOUT®

Fuel Tech’s air pollution control (APC) business encom-
passes a variety of patented, state-of-the-art proprietary 
technologies that are focused on the reduction of nitrogen 
oxides (NOx) from utility, industrial and municipal com-
bustion sources. Principal among these technologies is the 
NOxOUT® process, a Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction 
(SNCR) process using urea-based chemicals, which typi-
cally achieves a 25% to 50% reduction in NOx emissions. 
The Company’s NOx reduction systems are installed on 
over 350 units worldwide.

The APC group experienced an unprecedented level of 
business activity during 2005 as new international mar-
kets were penetrated, further inroads were made in key 
industrial markets and the Company benefited signifi-
cantly from existing relationships with some of the coun-
try’s largest electric utilities. Taken together, these factors 
enabled the APC business to enjoy a banner year in 2005 
as bookings totaled a record $43 million, revenues more 
than doubled to a record $32.6 million and the year-end 
backlog stood at a record $28 million.

In the United States, Fuel Tech enjoyed strong order flow 
from its two alliance partners, one a major utility in the 
Midwest, the other a major utility in the Southeast. The 
Midwest utility placed orders for four NOxOUT SNCR 
systems during 2005, bringing to nine the total number of 

such systems ordered. The Southeastern utility placed 
orders for three units this past year, bringing its total to 
six, and thus far in 2006, has signed two contracts, one 
for NOxOUT equipment on two small coal-fired boilers 
and a second for turnkey installation services on a mid-
sized coal-fired unit. Additional orders by this utility are 
expected during the balance of 2006 and beyond. These 
alliance agreements continue to be quite beneficial as 
they enable Fuel Tech to optimize its engineering and 
manufacturing resources.

In addition to activity from alliance partners, the Company 
benefited from commercial NOxOUT and demonstration 
orders from a number of other utility and industrial cus-
tomers. One such order was placed by Solvay Chemicals, 
Inc., which converted the fuel source for a calciner at its 
Green River, Wyoming soda ash plant from natural gas to 
a local sub-bituminous coal. This project represents the 
first application of NOxOUT technology in the trona 
fields of Wyoming and has been followed by a second 
Solvay order announced early in 2006.

The Company’s patented NOxOUT ULTRA® process 
provides for the safe and cost-effective on-site conversion 
of urea to ammonia for use as a reagent in the Selective 
Catalytic Reduction (SCR) of NOx, eliminating the hazards 
associated with the transport and storage of ammonia. 
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Checking flows, pressures and temperatures  

for the NOxOUT system

In the trona fields of Wyoming, two NOxOUT®  

systems are scheduled for installation at  

Solvay Chemical’s soda ash plant. 

During 2005 orders were placed for two ULTRA systems, 
one by a major Midwestern utility for a 175 megawatt 
coal-fired boiler and the other by a prominent educational 
institution in California for use on a new, small gas tur-
bine. In the case of the Midwestern utility, this represents 
the fourth such system purchased from Fuel Tech while, 
in the case of the gas turbine, this represents a potentially 
promising niche market.

Overseas, the APC group had a very successful year in 
Europe and the People’s Republic of China (PRC). In 
Europe, Fuel Tech was awarded NOxOUT system contracts 
covering three units in France, three units in Italy and a 
single unit in Belgium. Four of these projects focused on 
cement plants, which represent a targeted industry by our 
Italian subsidiary, while the other projects concentrated 
on reducing NOx emissions from municipal solid waste 
incinerators.

In the PRC, Fuel Tech was awarded two contracts totaling 
$15.3 million in Jiangsu Province, marking the Company’s 
initial entree to the world’s largest coal-consuming coun-
try. The first contract calls for installation of NOxOUT 
technology on four newly constructed 600 megawatt coal-
fired boilers at Ligang Electric Power Company Limited 
in Jiangyin. The second contract covers installation of 
advanced hybrid NOxOUT technology on two new 600 
megawatt supercritical boilers at China Power Investment 
Corporation’s Kanshan power plant in Xuzhou. The 
hybrid approach, which reflects the Company’s expertise 
in layering multiple NOx reduction technologies to 
achieve a desired outcome, will incorporate SNCR sys-
tems plus a conceptual design to upgrade the units by 
adding downsized SCR catalyst at a future date. The 
Kanshan project is being developed in cooperation with 
China’s National Power Combustion Center and will serve 
as a national demonstration project for NOx reduction.
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Fuel Treatment Chemicals

FUEL CHEM®

The FUEL CHEM® Group uses proprietary, world-class 
technology to control slagging, fouling, corrosion, opacity 
and acid plume (SO3) problems often associated with 
solid- and liquid-fueled combustion units found in the 
electric utility, industrial, pulp and paper, and waste-to-
energy markets. Helping to propel the business are the 
expanding opportunities made possible by the Company’s 
TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ program, which 
provides uniquely creative solutions to an evolving and 
growing customer base.

The primary target market for this patented technology 
remains electric utilities burning Western U.S. coals, 
which are mined principally in the Powder River Basin 
(PRB) of Wyoming and Montana and typically contain 
high levels of slag-forming constituents, such as sodium. 
New TIFI market opportunities have been identified dur-
ing 2005, including utilities burning slag-inducing coals 
heavily laden with sulfur and iron, such as those found in 
the Illinois Basin (IB).

The fuel treatment chemicals business maintained posi-
tive momentum during 2005, with revenues advancing 
25% to a record $20.3 million. Limiting the gain some-
what was the impact of rail disruptions on Western coal 
deliveries beginning in May, as heavy rains buckled 
tracks just outside the PRB region. As a result, chemical 

usage at certain existing customer accounts was restricted 
by curtailed coal shipments, while new prospects were 
unable to secure adequate PRB coal supplies, hampering 
test burns. Although some rail restrictions have been 
removed and coal shipments are steadily increasing, 
repair work will reportedly continue into 2006. Also 
affecting revenue growth were the effects of demonstra-
tion programs that did not yield commercial revenues 
during 2005; recoupable amounts from these programs 
have been largely realized thus far in 2006.

Solid gains were realized in the marketplace during 2005 
as TIFI technology was installed on 14 units, including 
nine on coal-fired utility boilers, one on a coal-fired 
industrial boiler, three on oil-fired units and one on a 
coke-fired unit. These orders represent a diversity of cus-
tomers, fuels, geographic locations and combustion unit 
sizes, attesting to the robust nature of the FUEL CHEM 
approach. Also noteworthy were repeat orders by highly 
satisfied customers, including an Italian utility and Plant 
Scherer, the latter operated by Georgia Power Company. 
At year-end 2005, TIFI installations were present on 20 
utility coal-fired boilers. Thus far in 2006, demonstration 
orders have been received for two small industrial coal-
fired boilers, while a TIFI system was decommissioned 
on a coal-fired boiler where the technology had been used 
on an intermittent basis.
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Georgia Power Company’s Plant 

Scherer utilizes TIFI™ Targeted  

In-Furnace Injection™ systems on two  

of its 880 megawatt coal-fired units.

Inserting a lance to provide chemical feed 

to a boiler utilizing TIFI™ technology
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IB coals represent an attractive market extension of the 
Company’s slag inhibiting technology. After years of 
steady market contraction, these coals are now experienc-
ing resurgent demand as new environmental legislation 
mandates installation of scrubbers to limit sulfur dioxide 
emissions, making these high-sulfur, high-BTU coals the 
fuel of choice at selected power plants. As in the case of 
Western coals, IB coals also contain impurities that can 
trigger slagging issues, which are often treatable with a 
customized TIFI program. During 2005 a major utility 
boiler utilizing IB coals was successfully treated, with 
additional opportunities being actively pursued.

The utilization of high-sulfur fuels by power plants with 
installed Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR) systems for 
nitrogen oxide (NOx) control has become increasingly 
problematic due to acid emissions and related opacity 
issues. To help address this problem, Fuel Tech has lever-
aged its TIFI technology to create the TDI™ Targeted 
Duct Injection™ process. Unlike the TIFI approach, 
which injects chemicals into the furnace, the TDI process 
injects chemicals directly into the duct, thereby reducing 

emissions caused by the oxidation of sulfur dioxide (SO2) 
to sulfur trioxide (SO3). Initial demonstration results on a 
very large utility oil-fired unit have been promising and 
an assessment of the market potential is underway.

Early in 2006, Fuel Tech announced its entry into the 
Mexican market with its first commercial FUEL CHEM 
order. Placed by its distributor in Mexico, Compañía 
Combustion Technificada S. de R.L. de C.V., the TIFI 
order is for design services and equipment for initiation of 
chemical injection on three small boilers owned by 
Comision Federal de Electricidad (CFE), the Mexican 
national utility. The installations represent a key compo-
nent of an extensive project designed to control acid gas 
and particulate emissions at a facility in Western Mexico. 
These installations are further expected to control slag 
formation, which can also result from the use of Mexican 
heavy fuel oil. Fuel Tech will continue to work closely 
with its partner to uncover other opportunities in this siz-
able market, which includes some 17,000 megawatts of 
fuel-oil-based electricity generation by CFE.



Building Momentum 
for the Future 

UNITED STATES

With nearly $42 million in annual 
net sales, the United States represents 
Fuel Tech’s principal market — and 
will remain so indefinitely. The outlook 
for the domestic air pollution control and 
fuel treatment chemicals businesses  
is promising as utility and industrial 
customers add: NOx control systems  
to comply with Federal and local  
environmental requirements; and FUEL 
CHEM® programs to lower overall 
fuel costs while gaining operational 
efficiencies.

PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA

Fuel Tech successfully penetrated the 
People’s Republic of China (PRC) with 
the signing of two air pollution control  
contracts totaling $15.3 million. As the 
world’s largest coal producing and coal 
consuming nation, the PRC represents a 
highly attractive market given surging 
demand for electricity generation and the 
expected need for some 325 new, large 
coal-fired boilers during the next five 
years, with many requiring some form of 
NOx control.

EUROPE

Strong gains are being realized on the 
European continent as numerous NOx 
control opportunities present themselves, 
particularly in the cement and municipal 
solid waste incineration industries. In 
addition, the availability of lower cost, 
lower quality Eastern European coals is 
providing new revenue streams for the 
fuel treatment chemicals business, which 
recorded its first European FUEL 
CHEM® program sales during 2005.

MEXICO

An extremely successful pilot test of 
TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ 
technology led to the first commercial 
order by a local distributor for a chemical 
injection program, to be deployed on 
heavy fuel oil fired boilers owned by 
Comision Federal de Electricidad (CFE), 
the Mexican national utility. Good 
potential exists for additional Mexican 
business, including combustion units 
associated with CFE’s 17,000 megawatts 
of electricity generation.
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Selected financial data are presented below as of the end of and for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended December 31, 
2005. The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the 
year ended December 31, 2005, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

For the years ended December 31

Statement of Operations Data  2005  2004  2003  2002  2001  

Net sales $ 52,928 $ 30,832 $ 35,736 $ 32,627 $ 17,672
Selling, general and administrative and other 

costs and expenses 18,625 14,017 12,946 11,687 9,873
Net income (loss)  7,588  1,572  1,120  3,057  (1,633)

Basic income (loss) per Common Share $ 0.38 $ 0.08 $ 0.06 $ 0.16 $ (0.09)
Diluted income (loss) per Common Share $ 0.33 $ 0.07 $ 0.05 $ 0.14 $ (0.09)
Weighted-average basic shares outstanding 20,043,000 19,517,000 19,637,000 19,350,000 18,592,000
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding 23,066,000 22,155,000 22,412,000 22,437,000 18,592,000

December 31

Balance Sheet Data  2005  2004  2003  2002  2001  

Working capital $ 19,590 $ 11,292 $ 10,973 $ 13,930 $ 8,844
Total assets 43,026 23,828 21,598 25,869 20,328
Long-term obligations 448 505 299 2,059 491
Total liabilities 13,890 4,873 4,287 9,064 7,193
Shareholders’ equity 29,136 18,955 17,311 16,805 13,135
Net tangible book value per share $ 1.12 $ 0.70 $ 0.61 $ 0.64 $ 0.56

Notes:

(1)  Shareholders’ equity includes $282,000 principal amount of nil coupon non-redeemable perpetual loan notes. See Note 4 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

(2)  Net tangible book value per share assumes full conversion of Fuel Tech’s nil coupon non-redeemable perpetual loan notes into 
shares of Fuel Tech’s Common Shares.

(3)  Effective January 1, 2002, Fuel Tech adopted FASB (Financial Accounting Standards Board) Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and 
Other Intangible Assets.” Under the guidance of this statement, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are no longer 
amortized but will be reviewed annually, or more frequently if indicators arise, for impairment. For the 12 months ended 
December 31, the following table depicts the impact on the prior year noted, had the non-amortization policy been applied.

 2001  

Reported net loss $ (1,633,000)
Add back: Goodwill amortization 334,000 

Adjusted net loss $ (1,299,000)

Basic earnings per share:
Reported net loss $ (0.09)
Add back: Goodwill amortization 0.02 

Adjusted net loss $ (0.07)

Diluted earnings per share:
Reported net loss $ (0.09)
Add back: Goodwill amortization 0.02 

Adjusted net loss $ (0.07)

Selected Financial Data
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except for share data)
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BACKGROUND

Fuel-Tech N.V. (“Fuel Tech”) is a technology company that provides advanced engineering solutions for the optimization of combustion 
systems in utility and industrial applications. Fuel Tech currently generates revenues from the following product lines:

Nitrogen Oxide (“NOx”) Reduction Technologies  Fuel Tech markets a suite of nitrogen oxide (NOx) reduction technologies. 
These include the NOxOUT®, NOxOUT CASCADE®, and NOxOUT-SCR® Processes, which use the injection of chemicals to 
reduce NOx emissions in flue gas from boilers, incinerators, furnaces and other stationary combustion sources to meet statutory 
NOx reduction requirements worldwide. Fuel Tech distributes its products through its direct sales force, licensees and agents. The 
current driver for growth in this business is the Ozone Transport SIP (State Implementation Plan) Call, which required 19 states to 
decrease their NOx emissions by May 31, 2004. This regulation impacts 700 to 800 utility boilers and 400 to 500 large industrial 
boilers (see below for more detail on the SIP Call). Fuel Tech believes that the implementation of the SIP Call will extend well 
beyond the May 31, 2004 implementation date.

Fuel Treatment Chemicals  Fuel Tech’s proprietary TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ technology centers on the unique 
application of specialty chemicals to improve the performance of combustion units. Specifically, this technology is used to address 
slagging, fouling, corrosion and plume abatement in furnaces and boilers through the injection of chemicals into the fuel or via 
TIFI. Fuel Tech sells its fuel treatment chemicals through its direct sales force and agents to industrial and utility power-generation 
facilities. Although coal sourced from a variety of geographic areas have proven to provide utility units with operational difficulty, 
Fuel Tech believes the largest market opportunity for this product line to be those units burning Western coals, many of which have 
significant operational issues related to the formation of slag.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which require Fuel Tech to make estimates and assumptions. Fuel Tech believes that, of its accounting policies 
(see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements), the following involves a higher degree of judgment and complexity and are 
deemed critical. Fuel Tech discusses its critical accounting policies with the Audit Committee. 

Revenue recognition  Fuel Tech uses the percentage of completion method of accounting for certain long-term equipment 
construction and license contracts that are sold within the nitrogen oxide reduction business segment. Under the percentage of com-
pletion method, sales and gross profit are recognized as work is performed based on the relationship between actual construction 
costs incurred and total estimated costs at completion. Since the financial reporting of these contracts depends on estimates that are 
assessed continually during the term of the contract, recognized sales and profit are subject to revisions as the contract progresses 
to completion. Revisions in profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the facts that give rise to the revision become 
known. Different results are possible when using different assumptions.

Fuel Tech’s construction contracts are typically six to twelve months in length. A typical contract will have three or four critical 
milestones that serve as the basis for Fuel Tech to invoice the customer. At a minimum, the milestones will include the generation 
of engineering drawings, the shipment of equipment and the completion of a system performance test. 

As part of most of its contractual project agreements, Fuel Tech will agree to customer-specific acceptance criteria that relate to the 
operational performance of the system that is being sold to the customer. These criteria are determined based on mathematical 
modeling that is performed by Fuel Tech personnel, which is based on operational inputs that are provided by the customer. The 
customer will warrant that these operational inputs are accurate as they are specified in the binding contractual agreement. Further, 
the customer is solely responsible for the accuracy of the operating condition information; all performance guarantees and equip-
ment warranties granted by Fuel Tech are void if the operating condition information is inaccurate or is not met. 

Fuel Tech has installed over 350 units with the technology and has never failed to meet a performance guarantee when the customer 
has provided the required operating conditions for the project. As part of the project implementation process, Fuel Tech will perform 
system start-up and optimization services that effectively serve as a test of actual project performance. Fuel Tech believes that this 
test, combined with the accuracy of the modeling that is performed, enables revenue to be recognized prior to the receipt of formal 
customer acceptance. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts  Fuel Tech, in order to control and monitor the credit risk associated with its customer base, 
reviews the credit worthiness of customers on a recurring basis. Factors influencing the level of scrutiny include the level of business 
the customer has with Fuel Tech, the customer’s payment history and the customer’s financial stability. Representatives of Fuel Tech’s 
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Management team review all past due accounts on a weekly basis to assess collectibility. At the end of each reporting period, the 
allowance for doubtful accounts balance is reviewed relative to management’s collectibility assessment and is adjusted if deemed 
necessary. Fuel Tech’s historical credit loss has been insignificant.

Assessment of potential impairments of goodwill and intangible assets  Effective January 1, 2002, Fuel Tech adopted 
FASB (Financial Accounting Standards Board) Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under the guidance 
of this statement, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are no longer amortized, but rather, are required to be reviewed 
annually or more frequently if indicators arise, for impairment. The evaluation of impairment involves comparing the current fair 
value of the business to the recorded value. Fuel Tech uses a discounted cash flow model (DCF) to determine the current fair value 
of its two reporting units. A number of significant assumptions and estimates are involved in the application of the DCF model to 
forecast operating cash flows, including markets and market share, sales volumes and prices, costs to produce and working capital 
changes. Management considers historical experience and all available information at the time the fair values of its reporting units 
are estimated. However, actual fair values that could be realized in an actual transaction may differ from those used to evaluate the 
impairment of goodwill.

Fuel Tech reviews other intangible assets, which include a customer list, a covenant not to compete and patent assets, for impairment 
on a recurring basis or when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
In the event the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying 
amount of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded. Management 
considers historical experience and all available information at the time the estimates of future cash flows are made, however, the 
actual cash values that could be realized may differ from those that are estimated.

Valuation allowance for deferred income taxes  Deferred tax assets represent deductible temporary differences and net oper-
ating loss and tax credit carryforwards. A valuation allowance is recognized if it is more likely than not that some portion of the 
deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Upon review of its potential sources of taxable income, Fuel Tech has concluded that it is more likely than not that some portion of 
the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Fuel Tech considers if there are taxable temporary differences that could generate taxable 
income in the future, if there is the ability to carryback the net operating losses or credits, if there is a projection of future taxable 
income, and if there are any tax planning strategies which can be readily implemented. Fuel Tech is a company whose revenues are 
generated from a customer base that is heavily regulated. This fact lends some uncertainty to the ability of the Company to project 
forward-looking income with precision.

2005 VERSUS 2004

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were $52,928,000 and $30,832,000, respectively. The year on year 
increase of $22,096,000, or 72%, reflects gains from both the Nitrogen Oxide reduction (NOx) and Fuel Treatment Chemical 
business segments. 

Revenues for the NOx product line were $32,650,000 in 2005, an increase of 124% over 2004. This business segment, which began 
to show increased strength in the second half of 2004, continues to experience a surge in order activity. Utilities and industrial 
facilities that are impacted by the Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) State Implementation Plan (SIP) Call regulation, which 
became effective on May 31, 2004, continue to prove that Fuel Tech’s technology is a viable tool in their ongoing regulatory com-
pliance planning. Fuel Tech’s strategy in addressing this market has involved the development of alliance agreements with critical 
customers looking to finalize their compliance plans.

The SIP Call, introduced in 1998, is the federal mandate that required 22 states to reduce NOx emissions by May 2003. On March 3, 
2000, an appellate court of the D.C. Circuit upheld the validity of the SIP Call for 19 of the 22 states and, on June 22, 2000, the 
same court made a final ruling upholding the EPA’s SIP Call regulation and denying the appeal of the states and utilities. Although 
the NOx reduction requirement date was moved back thirteen months to May 31, 2004, 19 states were required to complete and 
issue their State Implementation Plans for NOx reduction by October of 2000. These plans, which the EPA had until October 2001 
to approve, will potentially impact 700 to 800 utility boilers and 400 to 500 industrial units. Although the SIP Call was the subject 
of litigation, an appellate court of the D.C. Circuit upheld the validity of this regulation. This court’s ruling was later affirmed by 
the U.S. Supreme Court. 
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In February 2001, the U.S. Supreme Court, in a unanimous decision, upheld EPA’s authority to revise the National Ambient Air 
Quality Standard for ozone to 0.080 parts per million averaged through an eight-hour period from the current 0.120 parts per 
million for a one-hour period. This more stringent standard provides clarity and impetus for air pollution control efforts well 
beyond the current ozone attainment requirement of 2007. In keeping with this trend, the Supreme Court, only days later, denied 
industry’s attempt to stay the SIP Call, effectively exhausting all means of appeal. 

On December 23, 2003, the EPA proposed a new regulation that affects the SIP Call states by calling for more NOx reductions in 
2010 and 2015. Also, deep NOx reductions are called for in 10 additional states outside the current SIP Call region. The proposed 
rule allows a cap and trade format similar to the SIP Call. This rule, under the name “Clean Air Interstate Rule,” became final on 
March 10, 2005.

Revenues for the Fuel Treatment Chemical business segment were $20,272,000 in 2005, an increase of 25% over 2004. This seg-
ment’s growth, although indicative of the continued market acceptance of Fuel Tech’s patented TIFI Targeted In-Furnace Injection 
technology, would have been enhanced had revenues not been hampered by the following circumstances during 2005:

•  Demonstration programs — there were several demonstration programs during 2005, five of which have not yielded commer-
cial revenues at December 31, 2005. One was a no-cost demonstration at a critical coal-fired utility and one was a demonstra-
tion at a large coal-fired utility offered at 50% of commercial value. These two successful demonstrations had the impact of 
reducing revenue by approximately $500,000 and this revenue is non-recoverable. The other three demonstrations were struc-
tured on a cost-share basis and all were on coal-fired units. Under cost-share arrangements, during the demonstration period, 
Fuel Tech will invoice the customer at a specified percentage of the commercial price. At the end of the demonstration, if Fuel 
Tech meets the criteria for success that were established for the program, Fuel Tech will invoice the customer for the remain-
ing percentage of the commercial price. These latter three demonstrations are expected to reach their evaluation date in the 
first quarter of 2006. If revenue was recognized at commercial pricing for these latter demonstrations, an incremental $600,000 
in revenue would have been realized in 2005.

•  Coal supply chain issues — rail disruptions in the Powder River Basin during 2005 impacted several utilities’ ability to 
receive and burn Powder River Basin coal. The required repair and maintenance work on several rail lines is expected to 
impact coal shipments in several parts of the country well into 2006. This market dynamic negatively impacted Fuel Tech’s 
revenue generating capability in 2005 as more than one critical Western-coal fired utility unit was forced to reduce capacity 
for an extended period of time due to transportation related shortages of Western coal deliveries. New sales initiatives were 
also negatively influenced by these issues as potential new customers were forced to delay their evaluation and implementation 
of the FUEL CHEM technology.

•  Oil pricing — the high price of oil has resulted in reduced oil-fired electricity generation in the United States. Fuel Tech’s oil-
fired business was negatively impacted by this market dynamic in 2005.

Fuel Tech’s TIFI technology alleviates the slagging and fouling issues associated with burning coals that are high in low-melting-point 
ash constituents, such as sodium. More than half of the coal burned in the United States today to generate electricity is Western coal 
and it is Western coal that has higher levels of low-melting-point ash constituents. Due to its lower cost and lower pollutant content 
relative to Eastern coals, and despite the rail issues noted above, it is anticipated that Western coals will be burned in larger quantities 
and in an increasing number of facilities. The penetration of the Western coal-fired utility market remains the top priority for this 
business segment. 

During 2005, demonstrations were performed on utility units that burn Illinois Basin Coal. The utilization of this coal, whose high 
iron content also can create slagging and fouling issues, is likely to provide the FUEL CHEM® product line with an additional 
market niche.

In addition to the above, new technical markets being explored and pursued by FUEL CHEM include the SO3/plume abatement 
market, which is a key concern in many utility and industrial operations today, as well as the corrosion reduction market for the 
municipal solid waste incineration industry. Both areas represent market opportunities for Fuel Tech. 

Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales for the year ended December 31, 2005 declined to 51% from 54% in the prior year. This 
improvement is primarily attributable to the nitrogen oxide business, where the percentage decreased to 51% in 2005 from 58% in 
2004. The decrease is attributable to the mix of project business. The cost of sales percentage for the fuel treatment chemical business 
increased to 50% in 2005 from 48% in 2004. The increase is due to the impact of the demonstration programs discussed above. 
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Selling, general and administrative expenses were $17,414,000 and $12,775,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and  
2004, respectively. Of the $4,639,000 variance with 2004, almost $2,800,000 was due to employee-related costs including the 
wages and benefits resulting from the addition of new personnel; recruiting costs; and incentive compensation. Revenue-related 
internal and external commission accounted for $1,100,000 of the increase. The remainder of the variance is attributable to audit 
and audit-related fees for Sarbanes Oxley compliance and legal and consulting fees derived from Fuel Tech’s strategic desire to 
engage in business in new geographies. 

Research and development expenses were $1,211,000 and $1,242,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 
Fuel Tech continues to pursue commercial applications for technologies related to its core businesses, with a particular focus on its 
FUEL CHEM technologies.

Other expense was $16,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 versus $83,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. The year 
on year reduction in expense is comprised of an $180,000 increase in interest income resulting from a higher average cash balance 
in 2005 versus 2004 and an increase in market interest rates. This increase was offset by transaction losses related to balances 
denominated in foreign currencies.

Fuel Tech’s income tax benefit of $419,000 for 2005 predominantly represents the recording of the reduction in the deferred tax 
asset valuation allowance representing the anticipated utilization of net operating loss and research and development tax credit 
carryforwards. Based on a review of both historical and projected taxable income, Fuel Tech concluded that it was more likely than 
not that the net operating losses and the research and development tax credits would be utilized in subsequent periods and the 
valuation allowance was no longer required. 

At December 31, 2004, Fuel Tech recorded a $1,500,000 reduction in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which represented 
the anticipated utilization of net operating loss carryforwards in subsequent periods. Based on a review of both historical and 
projected taxable income, Fuel Tech had concluded that it was more likely than not that some portion of the net operating losses 
would be utilized in subsequent periods and that a reduction in the deferred tax valuation allowance was required.

2004 VERSUS 2003

Net sales for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $30,832,000 and $35,736,000, respectively. The year on year decline 
reflects a reduction in revenues derived from the NOx reduction project product line. Revenues for this product line were $14.6 
million in 2004 versus $25.4 million in 2003. As referred to in previous filings, although the Environmental Protection Agency’s 
(EPA) SIP (State Implementation Plan) Call regulation became effective as of May 31, 2004, there were several factors that led to a 
slowing of equipment orders in the air pollution control business late in 2003 and during the first half of 2004. NOx allowance 
prices for 2004 were depressed as a result of weak demand for power, the existence of a shortened ozone season and due to the 
allocation of supplemental NOx allowances. Consequently, some utilities were able to delay capital spending related to NOx control 
and they met their emissions reduction requirements on a short-term basis through the purchase of allowances and other temporary 
means. In addition, many utilities continued to experience significant capital constraints. Based on these market factors, the air 
pollution control business weakened during the latter portion of 2003 and the first half of 2004. As expected, the second half of 
2004 began to show improvement with the receipt of several air pollution control project orders.

The decline in NOx reduction project revenues was partially offset by record fuel treatment chemical revenues. Revenues for the 
FUEL CHEM product line increased to $16.2 million from $10.3 million in 2003, an increase of almost 60%. Revenues derived 
from Western coal-fired utility boilers had the largest year on year impact, and contributions from the customer contracts acquired 
from Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties, LLC on September 30, 2003 also contributed to the increase.

Fuel Tech believes that attaining success on additional Western coal-fired utility boilers will lead to more expedient penetration of 
the Western coal-fired utility market. Sales and marketing efforts are intensely focused on penetrating this market as it represents 
the largest opportunity for the fuel treatment chemical business.

Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales for the year ended December 31, 2004 declined to 54% from 61% in the prior year due to 
two primary reasons. First, a significantly larger percentage of the revenues for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2004 were 
generated by the fuel treatment chemical product line. The gross margins realized by the fuel treatment chemical product line are 
typically higher than the NOx reduction project business. Secondarily, a larger percentage of the NOx reduction project revenues 
generated for the year ended December 31, 2003 were generated by NOx reduction turnkey projects than in 2004. When Fuel Tech 
receives a NOx reduction project order from a customer, the scope of the project can include two components. First, there is the 
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Fuel Tech equipment scope for a project and second, there is an installation scope for a project. Due to its patented technology, 
Fuel Tech’s equipment scope for a project generates a higher gross margin than does the installation scope for a project. Historically, 
most NOx reduction projects undertaken by Fuel Tech have not included the installation scope of a project and this portion of the 
work has been the responsibility of the end customer. When Fuel Tech is responsible for both components of the project scope, the 
overall project margin is reduced.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $12,775,000 and $11,659,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. Of the $1,116,000 increase, $400,000 was due to employment-related costs for sales and marketing personnel related to 
the fuel treatment chemical business. Market penetration of Fuel Tech’s TIFI technology in the coal-fired utility market remains a 
strategic priority. The remainder of the variance was due primarily to an increase in engineering expenses which was driven by the 
reduction in NOx reduction project activity. When engineering employees are specifically working on NOx reduction projects their 
costs are classified as cost of sales.

Research and development expenses were $1,242,000 and $1,287,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
Fuel Tech continues to pursue commercial applications for technologies related to its core businesses, with a particular focus on its 
FUEL CHEM technologies.

There was no interest expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2004, while $25,000 was recorded during 2003. Fuel Tech 
paid off the entirety of its outstanding debt balance in the second quarter of 2003.

Other expense was $83,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 versus other income of $144,000 for the year ended December 31, 
2003. The decline is principally due to recording an impairment loss for certain patent assets in the amount of $113,000 in 2004. Addi-
tionally, Fuel Tech had lower interest income in 2004 resulting from a lower average outstanding cash balance in 2004 versus 2003. 

Fuel Tech’s income tax benefit of $1,406,000 for 2004 predominantly represents the recording of a $1,500,000 reduction in the deferred 
tax asset valuation allowance representing the anticipated utilization of net operating loss carryforwards in subsequent years. Based 
on a review of both historical and projected taxable income, Fuel Tech concluded that it was more likely than not that some portion 
of the net operating losses would be utilized in subsequent years and that a reduction in the deferred tax valuation allowance was 
required. The $94,000 in tax expense that offsets this amount primarily represents state income tax expense. Fuel Tech did not 
record a financial impact from income taxes in 2003.

LIQUIDITY AND SOURCES OF CAPITAL

At December 31, 2005, Fuel Tech had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of $16,375,000 and working capital of 
$19,590,000 versus $6,531,000 and $11,292,000 at the end of 2004, respectively. Operating activities provided $11,531,000 of cash 
in 2005 primarily due to Fuel Tech’s operating profit plus depreciation and amortization. Investing activities used cash of $6,292,000 
during the year. Of this amount, $3,500,000 was an increase in short-term investments. The remaining $2,792,000 was used in the 
purchase of equipment and patents, primarily related to the fuel treatment chemical business. Lastly, Fuel Tech generated cash from 
the exercise of stock options in the amount of $1,230,000.

Fuel Tech, Inc. (FTI) has a $15.0 million revolving credit facility expiring July 31, 2006, which is collateralized by all personal property 
owned by FTI. FTI can use this facility for cash advances and standby letters of credit. Cash advances under this facility bear interest 
based on the following:

•  The Bank Prime Rate reduced by a range of zero to 50 basis points, or 
•   The Bank Interbank Offering Rate increased by a range of 200 to 250 basis points.

The Company can choose which rate to apply to borrowings. 

At December 31, 2005, the bank had provided standby letters of credit, predominantly to customers, totaling approximately $2,704,000 
in connection with contracts in process. FTI is committed to reimbursing the issuing bank for any payments made by the bank under 
these letters of credit. At December 31, 2005, there were no cash borrowings under the revolving credit facility and approximately 
$12,296,000 was available.

There were no interest payments for the years ended December 31, 2005 or 2004. Interest payments of $39,000 were made during 
the year ended December 31, 2003.
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In the opinion of management, Fuel Tech’s expected near-term revenue growth will be driven by the timing of penetration of the 
coal-fired utility marketplace via utilization of its TIFI technology, by various entities’ implementation of domestic NOx reduction 
requirements of the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (CAAA), and by the expansion of both business segments in non-U.S. 
geographies. Fuel Tech expects its liquidity requirements to be met by the operating results generated from these activities. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

In its normal course of business, Fuel Tech enters into agreements that obligate Fuel Tech to make future payments. The operating 
lease obligations noted below are primarily related to supporting the normal operations of the business and are not recognized as 
liabilities in Fuel Tech’s consolidated balance sheet in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Payments due by period in thousands of U.S. dollars

Contractual Cash Obligations  Total  
Less than 

1 year  
2–3 

years  
4–5 

years  Thereafter

Operating Leases  $ 1,787 $ 504  $ 907  $ 370  $ 6

Fuel Tech has a sublease agreement that obligates the lessee to make future payments to FTI. The sublease obligations noted below 
are related to a sublease agreement between FTI and American Bailey Corporation (ABC). ABC will reimburse FTI for its share of 
lease and lease-related expenses under FTI’s January 29, 2004 lease of its executive offices in Stamford, Connecticut. Please refer 
to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the relation between FTI and ABC.

Rental payments due to FTI by period in thousands of U.S. Dollars

Contractual Cash Obligations  Total  
Less than 

1 year  
2–3 

years  
4–5 

years  Thereafter

Sublease  $ 394 $ 96  $ 193  $ 105  $ —

Fuel Tech, in the normal course of business, uses bank performance guarantees and letters of credit in support of construction contracts 
with customers as follows:

•  In support of the warranty period defined in the contract, or 
•  In support of the system performance criteria that are defined in the contract.

In addition, Fuel Tech uses letters of credit as security for other obligations as needed in the normal course of business. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2005, Fuel Tech has outstanding bank performance guarantees and letters of credit as noted in the table below: 

Commitment expiration by period in thousands of U.S. dollars

Commercial Commitments  Total  
Less than 

1 year  
2–3 

years  
4–5 

years  Thereafter

Standby letters of credit and bank guarantees  $ 2,704 $ 2,150  $ 554  $ —  $ —

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

From time to time, information provided by Fuel Tech, statements made by its employees or information included in its filings 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (including this Annual Report) may contain statements that are not historical facts, 
so-called “forward-looking statements.” These forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Fuel Tech’s actual future results may differ significantly from those stated in any 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, 
product demand, pricing, market acceptance, litigation, risk of dependence on significant customers, third-party suppliers and 
intellectual property rights, risks in product and technology development and other risk factors detailed in this Annual Report and in 
Fuel Tech’s Securities and Exchange Commission filings.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition  
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Fuel Tech’s earnings and cash flow are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fuel Tech does 
not enter into foreign currency forward contracts or into foreign currency option contracts to manage this risk due to the immaterial 
nature of the transactions involved.

Fuel Tech is also exposed to changes in interest rates primarily due to its long-term debt arrangement (refer to Note 7 to the consoli-
dated financial statements). A hypothetical 100 basis point adverse move in interest rates along the entire interest rate yield curve 
would not have a materially adverse effect on interest expense during the upcoming year ended December 31, 2006.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Fuel Tech’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such 
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. As required by Rule 13a-15(c) under the Exchange Act, Fuel Tech’s 
management carried out an evaluation, with the participation of Fuel Tech’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of 
the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the last fiscal year. The framework on which such 
evaluation was based is contained in the report entitled “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO Report”).

Fuel Tech’s system of internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Based on its assessment, management has concluded that Fuel Tech maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2005, based on criteria in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the COSO.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, has been audited by 
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included elsewhere herein.
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December 31

  2005  2004  

Assets
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,375 $ 4,031
 Short-term investments 6,000 2,500
 Accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $150 and $74, respectively 12,184 7,358
 Inventories 358 311
 Deferred income taxes 3,043 500
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets  1,072 960 

Total current assets 33,032 15,660

Equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $7,900 and $7,209, respectively 4,045 2,863
Goodwill 2,119 2,119
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $1,087 and $968, respectively 1,224 1,342
Deferred income taxes 1,579 1,144
Other assets  1,027 700 

Total assets  $ 43,026 $ 23,828 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
 Accounts payable $ 6,493 $ 2,705
 Accrued liabilities:
  Employee compensation 2,005 706
  Other accrued liabilities  4,944 957 

Total current liabilities 13,442 4,368

Other liabilities  448 505 

Total liabilities 13,890 4,873

Shareholders’ equity:
 Common stock, $.01 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 20,424,133 and 19,529,952  
  shares issued, respectively 204 195
 Additional paid-in capital 91,559 88,600
 Accumulated deficit (62,870) (70,458)
 Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (39) 86
 Nil coupon perpetual loan notes  282 532 

Total shareholders’ equity  29,136 18,955 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 43,026  $ 23,828   

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share data)



18

For the years ended December 31

  2005  2004  2003  

Net sales $ 52,928 $ 30,832 $ 35,736
Costs and expenses:
 Cost of sales 27,118 16,566 21,789
 Selling, general and administrative 17,414 12,775 11,659
 Research and development  1,211 1,242 1,287 

  45,743 30,583 34,735 

Operating income 7,185 249 1,001
Interest expense — — (25)
Other (expense) income, net  (16) (83) 144 

Income before taxes 7,169 166 1,120
Income tax benefit  419 1,406 — 

Net income  $ 7,588 $ 1,572 $ 1,120 

Net income per Common Share:
 Basic $ 0.38 $ 0.08 $ 0.06
 Diluted $ 0.33 $ 0.07 $ 0.05
Average number of Common Shares outstanding:
 Basic 20,043,000 19,517,000 19,637,000
 Diluted  23,066,000 22,155,000 22,412,000 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share data)
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Common Stock

    

Treasury Stock

  

  Shares  Amount  

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital  

Accumulated 
Deficit  

Accumulated 
Other  

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)  Shares  Amount 

Nil Coupon 
Perpetual 

Loan Notes  Total  

Balance at January 1, 2003  19,614 $196  $90,315  $(73,150)  $ 10  110  $ (1,098) $532  $ 16,805 

Comprehensive income:
 Net income 1,120 1,120
  Foreign currency translation 

 adjustments 38 38 

Comprehensive income 1,158
Exercise of stock options  
 and warrants 282 3 320 323
Purchase of shares for retirement (274) (3) (937) (940)
Other            8  (35)   (35)

Balance at December 31, 2003  19,622 $196  $89,698  $(72,030)  $ 48  118  $ (1,133) $532  $ 17,311 

Comprehensive income:
 Net income 1,572 1,572
  Foreign currency translation 

 adjustments 38 38 

Comprehensive income 1,610
Exercise of stock options  
 and warrants 26 34 34
Share retirement  (118) (1)  (1,132)      (118)  1,133   — 

Balance at December 31, 2004  19,530 $195  $88,600  $(70,458)  $ 86  —  $ — $532  $ 18,955 

Comprehensive income:
 Net income 7,588 7,588
  Foreign currency translation  

 adjustments (125) (125)

Comprehensive income 7,463
Exercise of stock options  
 and warrants 856 9 1,221 1,230
Conversion of nil coupon perpetual  
 loan notes into Common Shares 38 250 (250) —
Tax benefit from stock  
 compensation expense      1,488            1,488  

Balance at December 31, 2005  20,424 $204  $91,559  $(62,870)  $(39)  —  $ — $282  $ 29,136 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(in thousands)
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For the years ended December 31 

  2005  2004  2003  

Operating Activities
Net income $ 7,588 $ 1,572 $ 1,120
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
 Depreciation 1,566 1,225 1,047
 Amortization 127 137 65
 Provision for doubtful accounts 26 92 425
 Loss on equipment disposals/impaired assets 32 109 32
 Deferred income tax (2,978) (1,520) (36)
 Tax benefit from stock compensation expense 1,488 — —
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
  Accounts receivable (4,852) (1,355) 2,329
  Inventories (47) — 108
  Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other non-current assets (439) (197) (454)
  Accounts payable 3,788 461 (2,821)
  Accrued liabilities and other non-current liabilities 5,229 125 (156)
  Other  3 65 — 

Net cash provided by operating activities 11,531 714 1,659

Investing Activities
 Proceeds from sale of equipment — 13 —
 Acquisition of fuel additive business — — (1,348)
 Purchases and sales of short-term investments (3,500) — 2,900
 Purchases of equipment and patents  (2,792) (2,080) (1,024)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (6,292) (2,067) 528

Financing Activities
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 1,230 34 323
 Purchase of treasury shares — — (35)
 Purchase of shares to be retired — — (940)
 Repayment of borrowings  — — (1,800)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,230 34 $(2,452)

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash  (125) 38 38 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,344 (1,281) (227)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  4,031 5,312 5,539 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 10,375 $ 4,031 $ 5,312 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
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1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization  Fuel-Tech N.V. (“Fuel Tech”) is a holding company that provides advanced engineering solutions for the optimization 
of combustion systems in utility and industrial applications. Fuel Tech’s primary focus, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Fuel 
Tech, Inc. (“FTI”), is on the worldwide marketing and sale of its NOxOUT® Process and related technologies as well as its FUEL 
CHEM® fuel treatment chemical product line. The NOxOUT Process reduces nitrogen oxide (“NOx”) emissions from boilers, furnaces 
and other stationary combustion sources. FTI’s FUEL CHEM program is based on proprietary TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ 
technology in the unique application of specialty chemicals to improve the performance of combustion units. Fuel Tech’s business 
is materially dependent on the continued existence and enforcement of air quality regulations, particularly in the United States. Fuel 
Tech has expended significant resources in the research and development of new technologies in building its proprietary portfolio 
of air pollution control, fuel treatment chemicals, computer modeling and advanced visualization technologies. 

International revenues were $11.2 million, $4.7 million and $4.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. These amounts represented 21%, 15% and 13% of Fuel Tech’s total revenues for the respective periods of time. Foreign 
currency changes did not have a material impact on the calculation of these percentages.

Basis of Presentation  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Fuel Tech and its wholly owned subsidiaries. 
All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. 

Reclassifications  Certain amounts included in prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current 
year presentation.

Use of Estimates  The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompa-
nying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation  The functional currency for Fuel Tech’s foreign subsidiaries is the respective local currency. Accord-
ingly, assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates, and revenues and expenses are translated using 
average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Adjustments resulting from translation of financial statements denominated in 
currencies other than the U.S. dollar are included in accumulated other comprehensive income or loss. Foreign currency transaction 
gains and losses are included in the determination of net income.

Cash Equivalents and Financial Instruments  Fuel Tech includes cash and investments having a maturity of three months or 
less at the time of acquisition in cash and cash equivalents. Short-term investments consist of highly-liquid, available-for-sale, 
municipal variable rate demand notes, which are recorded at cost, and may be redeemed at par upon twenty-eight days notice. The 
cost of these securities closely approximates their fair market value due to their variable interest rates, which typically reset every 
twenty-eight days. All securities held had maturities of greater than 10 years. Fuel Tech has never incurred realized or unrealized 
holding gains or losses on these securities. Income resulting from short-term investments is recorded as interest income. Fuel Tech 
reclassified short-term investments from 2004 and 2003 to conform to the current year presentation.

At December 31, 2005, substantially all of Fuel Tech’s cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments are on deposit with two 
financial institutions.

Foreign Currency Risk Management  Fuel Tech’s earnings and cash flow are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates. Fuel Tech does not enter into foreign currency forward contracts or into foreign currency option contracts to 
manage this risk due to the immaterial nature of the transactions involved.

Accounts Receivable  Accounts receivable includes unbilled receivables, representing costs and estimated earnings in excess of 
billings on contracts under the percentage of completion method. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, unbilled receivables were 
approximately $1,229,000 and $93,000, respectively. The allowance for doubtful accounts is established based on Fuel Tech’s 
historical level of write-off activity and management’s review of specific accounts at each reporting date.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles  Effective January 1, 2002, Fuel Tech adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under the guidance of this statement, goodwill and indefinite-lived 
intangible assets are no longer amortized, but rather, are required to be reviewed annually or more frequently if indicators arise for 
impairment. The evaluation of impairment involves comparing the current fair value of the business to the recorded value. Fuel 
Tech uses a discounted cash flow model (DCF) to determine the current fair value of its reporting units. A number of significant 
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assumptions and estimates are involved in the application of the DCF model to forecast operating cash flows, including markets and 
market share, sales volumes and prices, costs to produce and working capital changes. Management considers historical experience 
and all available information at the time the fair values of its reporting units are estimated. However, actual fair values that could be 
realized in an actual transaction may differ from those used to evaluate the impairment of goodwill.

Fuel Tech allocates goodwill to reporting units based on the relative excess of fair value over carrying value of the reporting units. 
Fair value is determined as noted above. The ratio of each reporting unit’s excess of fair value over carrying value, to the total 
excess of fair value over carrying value, is used as the basis for the allocation of the goodwill balance. Fuel Tech’s annual fair value 
measurement test revealed no evidence of impairment.

On September 30, 2003, FTI acquired the fuel additive business of Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties, LLC (MMMS). The aggre-
gate purchase price was $1,348,000, paid in cash. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired. 

Equipment $ 50,000
Customer list 1,198,000
Covenant not to compete 100,000

Total $ 1,348,000

The amount of $1,298,000, representing the value of the customer list and the covenant not to compete, was recorded in other intan-
gible assets on the consolidated balance sheet. The customer list is being amortized over a period of 15 years while the covenant not 
to compete is being amortized over six years. The estimated amortization expense related to these intangible assets is expected to 
approximate $100,000 per year for the four-year period ending December 31, 2009, and then $80,000 in 2010.

Included with other intangible assets on the consolidated balance sheet are third-party costs related to the development of patents. 
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the net patent asset balance was $144,000 and $165,000, respectively. The third-party costs 
capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were $38,000 and $47,000, respectively. Third-party costs are 
comprised of legal fees that relate to the review and preparation of patent disclosures and filing fees incurred to present the patents to 
the required governing body.

Fuel Tech’s intellectual property has been the primary building block for the Air Pollution Control and fuel treatment chemical 
product lines. The patents are essential to the generation of revenue for Fuel Tech’s businesses and are essential to protect Fuel Tech 
from competition in the markets in which it serves. These costs are being amortized on the straight-line method over a period of 
10 years from the date of patent issuance. Patent maintenance fees are charged to operations as incurred. Further, the estimated 
amortization expense related to Fuel Tech’s intangible patent assets is expected to approximate $20,000 per year for the five-year 
period ending December 31, 2010.

Fuel Tech reviews other intangible assets, which include a customer list, a covenant not to compete and patent assets, for impairment 
on a recurring basis or when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
In the event the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying 
amount of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded. Management 
considers historical experience and all available information at the time the estimates of future cash flows are made, however, the 
actual cash values that could be realized may differ from those that are estimated. The impact of impairment losses on Fuel Tech was 
$30,000 and $113,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and such amounts are recorded in the “Other 
(expense) income, net” line item in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Equipment  Equipment is stated on the basis of cost. Provisions for depreciation are computed by the straight-line method, using 
estimated useful lives as follows:

Laboratory equipment   5–10 years
Furniture and fixtures   3–10 years
Field equipment   3–4 years
Vehicles   3 years
Computer equipment and software  2–3 years

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Revenue Recognition  Fuel Tech uses the percentage of completion method of accounting for certain long-term equipment 
construction and license contracts. Under the percentage of completion method, sales and gross profit are recognized as work is 
performed based on the relationship between actual construction costs incurred and total estimated costs at completion. Sales and 
gross profit are adjusted for revisions in completion estimates and contract values in the period in which the facts giving rise to the 
revisions become known. Revenues from the sales of chemical products are recorded when title transfers, either at the point of 
shipment or at the point of destination, depending on the contract with the customer.

Distribution Costs  Fuel Tech classifies shipping and handling costs in “Cost of sales” in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Income Taxes  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial statement and tax 
bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. 

At each reporting period, for financial statement purposes, Fuel Tech reviews the valuation allowance that has historically been 
recorded to offset the tax benefit of deductible temporary differences and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Fuel Tech 
considers the following when reviewing the requirement for a valuation allowance: taxable temporary differences that generate taxable 
income in the future; the ability to carryback the net operating losses or credits; projections of future taxable income; and tax planning 
strategies that can be readily implemented. Fuel Tech is a company whose revenues are generated from a customer base that is heavily 
regulated. This fact lends some uncertainty to the ability of the Company to project forward-looking income with precision.

Stock-Based Compensation  Fuel Tech accounts for stock option grants in accordance with Accounting Principles Board 
(APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB No.25). Under Fuel Tech’s current plans, options may be 
granted at not less than the fair market value on the date of grant, and therefore, no compensation expense is recognized for the 
stock options granted. 

If compensation expense for Fuel Tech’s plans had been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under its 
plans, consistent with the method described in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, “Share-Based 
Payment,” Fuel Tech’s net income and income per share would have been adjusted as follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands, except share data)  2005  2004  2003

Net income:
 As reported $ 7,588 $ 1,572 $ 1,120
 As adjusted  6,636 807 363

Basic and diluted income per share:
 Basic — as reported $ 0.38 $ 0.08 $ 0.06
 Basic — as adjusted $ 0.33 $ 0.04 $ 0.02
 Diluted — as reported $ 0.33 $ 0.07 $ 0.05
 Diluted — as adjusted  $ 0.29 $ 0.04 $ 0.02

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the “As adjusted” disclosures include only the effect of stock options granted 
after 1994. The application of the “As adjusted” disclosures presented above are not representative of the effects SFAS No. 123 may 
have on such operating results in future years due to the timing of stock option grants and considering that options vest over a period 
of immediately to four years.

In December 2004, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,” (SFAS 
No. 123R). SFAS No. 123R eliminates the intrinsic-value method under APB No. 25, and requires Fuel Tech to use a fair value-based 
method of accounting for share-based payments. Under APB No. 25, no compensation cost related to stock options is recognized in 
the Consolidated Statements of Income. SFAS No. 123R requires that compensation cost for employee services received in exchange 
for an award of equity instruments be recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income based on the grant-date fair value of 
that award. That cost recognized at the grant date will be amortized in the Consolidated Statements of Income over the period during 
which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for that award (requisite service period). The provisions of SFAS No. 
123R are effective as of the first interim period that begins after June 15, 2005. On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission announced that it would permit companies to delay implementation of SFAS No. 123R. Fuel Tech will implement the revised 
standard on January 1, 2006, and will begin expensing stock options in the first quarter of 2006, using the modified prospective 
transition method. The modified prospective method requires that compensation expense be recorded for both new awards and awards 
previously granted but not fully vested as of the adoption date. Fuel Tech anticipates that it will continue to use the Black-Scholes 
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option-pricing model to determine the fair value of options granted to employees. Fuel Tech expects the adoption of SFAS 123R 
will have a material impact on the Consolidated Statements of Income and earnings per share. Fuel Tech has no reason to believe 
that the amounts reported as a result of the adoptions will be materially different from our currently disclosed pro forma amounts.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share  Basic earnings per share exclude the dilutive effects of stock options and of 
the nil coupon non-redeemable convertible unsecured loan notes (see Note 4). Diluted earnings per share include the dilutive effect 
of the nil coupon non-redeemable convertible unsecured loan notes and of stock options and warrants. The following table sets forth 
the weighted-average shares used at December 31 in calculating earnings per share (in thousands):

  2005  2004  2003

Basic weighted-average shares 20,043 19,517 19,637
Conversion of unsecured loan notes 59 85 85
Unexercised options and warrants  2,964 2,553  2,690 

Diluted weighted-average shares  23,066 22,155  22,412 

2. TAXATION

The components of income (loss) before taxes for the years ended December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

Origin of income (loss) before taxes  2005  2004  2003

United States  $ 7,823 $ 1,218 $ 2,210
Foreign  (654) (1,052) (1,090) 

Income before taxes  $ 7,169 $ 166 $ 1,120 

Significant components of the income tax benefit for the years ended December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

  2005  2004  2003  

Current:
 Federal $ 582 $ 20 $ 36
 State 455 94 —
 Other  34 — — 

 Total current 1,071 114 36
Deferred:
 Federal 2,179 1,512 5,072
 State 630 204 725
 Change in valuation allowance  (4,299) (3,236) (5,833)

 Total deferred  (1,490) (1,520) (36)

Income tax benefit  $ (419) $ (1,406) $ — 

A reconciliation between the provision for income taxes calculated at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and the consolidated 
income tax benefit in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31 is as follows (in thousands):

  2005  2004  2003 

Provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate $ 2,509 $ 58 $ 392
State taxes, net of federal benefit 303 94 —
Foreign losses without tax benefit 263 368 382
Other 805 — —
Valuation allowance adjustment  (4,299) (1,926) (774)

Income tax benefit  $ (419) $ (1,406) $ — 
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The deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

  2005  2004

Deferred tax assets:
  Net operating loss carryforwards $ 2,268 $ 5,140
  Research and development credit 1,663 813
  Accrued liability for compensation 344 —
  Alternative minimum tax credit 261 144
  Equipment 159 —
  Warranty reserve 94 55
  Accounts receivable 57 30
  Deferred rent liability 42 —
  Vacation accrual 28 —
  Charitable contribution  8 — 

 Total deferred tax assets 4,924 6,182
 Valuation allowances for deferred tax assets  (45) (4,344)

 Deferred tax assets net of valuation allowances  4,879 1,838 
Deferred tax liabilities:
  Patents (54) (66)
  Goodwill  (203) (128)

 Total deferred tax liabilities  (257) (194)

Net deferred tax asset  $ 4,622 $ 1,644 

Fuel Tech’s income tax benefit of $419,000 for 2005 predominantly represents the recording of the reduction in the deferred tax 
asset valuation allowance representing the anticipated utilization of net operating loss and research and development tax credit 
carryforwards. Based on a review of both historical and projected taxable income, Fuel Tech concluded that it was more likely than 
not that the net operating losses and the research and development tax credits would be utilized in subsequent periods and the valu-
ation allowance was no longer required. 

Fuel Tech’s income tax benefit of $1,406,000 for 2004 predominantly represents the recording of a reduction in the deferred tax asset 
valuation allowance representing the anticipated utilization of net operating loss carryforwards in subsequent years as noted above. 
Based on a review of both historical and projected taxable income, Fuel Tech concluded that it is more likely than not that some 
portion of the net operating losses will be utilized in subsequent years and that a reduction in the deferred tax asset valuation allow-
ance needed to be recorded. The $94,000 in tax expense that offsets this amount primarily represents state income tax expense. 

Fuel Tech did not record a financial impact from income taxes in 2003.

The $4,299,000 reduction in the valuation allowance from December 31, 2004 to December 31, 2005 is primarily due to the antici-
pated utilization of net operating loss and research and development tax credit carryforwards. The remaining valuation allowance at 
December 31, 2005 represents research and development tax credit carryforwards at the state level that more likely than not will not 
be utilized in subsequent periods.

State and Federal tax payments during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $326,000, $76,000 and $142,000, 
respectively.

The management of Fuel Tech periodically estimates the probable tax obligations of the Company using historical experience in tax 
jurisdictions and informed judgments. There are inherent uncertainties related to the interpretation of tax regulations in the jurisdic-
tions in which the Company transacts business. The judgments and estimates made at a point in time may change based on the 
outcome of tax audits, as well as changes to or further interpretations of regulations. If such changes take place, there is a risk that 
the tax rate may increase or decrease in any period. Tax accruals for tax liabilities related to potential changes in judgments and 
estimates for both federal and state tax issues are included in “Current liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheet.
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At December 31, 2005, FTI had tax losses available for offset against future years’ earnings of $6,479,000 in the United States. In 
2004, approximately $3.7 million in tax losses expired while $0.9 million were utilized. Under the provisions of the U.S. Tax 
Reform Act of 1986, utilization of Fuel Tech’s U.S. federal income tax loss carryforwards may be limited should ownership changes 
exceed 50% within a three-year period. The remaining U.S. federal tax loss carryforwards expire as follows (in thousands): 

2006 $ 1,104
2007 2,325
2008 1,480
2009 220
2010 309
2011 884
2012 40
2021 117

 $ 6,479

3. COMMON SHARES

At December 31, 2005, Fuel Tech had 20,424,133 Common Shares issued, with an additional 46,326 shares reserved for issuance 
upon conversion of the nil coupon non-redeemable convertible unsecured loan notes (see Note 4), and 2,799,000 shares reserved for 
issuance upon the exercise of stock options, 1,687,375 of which are currently exercisable (see Note 5).

4. NIL COUPON NON-REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE UNSECURED LOAN NOTES

At December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, Fuel Tech had $282,000, $532,000 and $532,000 principal amount of nil coupon  
non-redeemable convertible unsecured perpetual loan notes (the “Loan Notes”) outstanding. The Loan Notes are convertible at any 
time into Common Shares at rates of $6.50 or $11.43 per share. The Loan Notes bear no interest and have no maturity date. They 
are generally repayable only in the event of Fuel Tech’s dissolution and, accordingly, have been classified within “Shareholders’ 
equity” in the accompanying balance sheet. 

In 2005, Loan Notes in the principal amount of $250,000 were converted into 38,461 Common Shares. There were no conversions 
in 2004 or 2003. 

5. STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Fuel Tech has granted stock options under the 1993 Incentive Plan (“1993 Plan”). Under the 1993 Plan, awards may be granted to 
participants in the form of Non-Qualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, 
Performance Awards, Bonuses or other forms of share-based or non-share-based awards or combinations thereof. Participants in the 
1993 Plan may be such of Fuel Tech’s directors, officers, employees, consultants or advisors (except consultants or advisors in 
capital-raising transactions) as the directors determine are key to the success of Fuel Tech’s business. The amount of shares that 
may be issued or reserved for awards to participants under a 2004 amendment to the 1993 Plan is 12.5% of outstanding shares 
calculated on a fully-diluted basis. In 2005, 2004 and 2003, 557,000, 408,000 and 475,500 options, respectively, were granted to 
employees and directors. These awards have a 10-year life and they vest as follows: 50% after the second anniversary of the award 
date, 25% after the third anniversary, and the final 25% after the fourth anniversary of the award date. Fuel Tech calculates stock 
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the four-year vesting period of the option.
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The modified Black-Scholes option-pricing model was used to estimate the fair value of employee stock options for the SFAS No. 123 
pro forma disclosure in Note 1. This model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting 
restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option-pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including 
the expected stock price volatility. Because Fuel Tech’s employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those 
of traded options and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in manage-
ment’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its stock options.

The fair value of each option grant, for “As adjusted” disclosure purposes in Note 1, was estimated on the date of grant using the 
modified Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

  2005  2004  2003

Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate 4.38% 3.60% 2.80%
Expected volatility 48.0% 62.3% 59.1%
Expected life of option 4 years 4 years 4 years

The following table presents a summary of Fuel Tech’s stock option activity and related information for the years ended December 31:

2005 2004 2003

  

Number 
of 

Options  

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price 

Number 
of 

Options  

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price 

Number  
of  

Options  

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year  2,810,000 $3.24  2,447,050 $3.00  2,207,000 $2.71
Granted  557,000 7.84  408,000 4.67  475,500 3.93
Exercised  (529,250) 2.32  (19,425) 1.74  (207,950) 2.16
Expired or forfeited  (38,750) 5.97  (25,625) 4.82  (27,500) 3.99

Outstanding at end of year  2,799,000 $4.29  2,810,000 $3.24  2,447,050 $3.00

Exercisable at end of year  1,687,375 $2.87  1,806,125 $2.65  1,436,050 $2.28
Weighted-average fair value of options  
 granted during the year    $3.35    $2.31    $1.89

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices  
Number of 

Options  

Weighted-Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Life  
Weighted-Average 

Exercise Price  
Number of 

Options  
Weighted-Average 

Exercise Price

$1.47–$4.20  1,497,000  4.92 years  $2.50  1,314,250  $2.31
$4.39–$8.46  1,302,000  8.57 years  $6.35  373,125  $4.81

$1.47–$8.46  2,799,000  6.62 years  $4.29  1,687,375  $2.87

In addition to the above, Fuel Tech has 2,107,000 warrants outstanding to purchase Common Shares at an exercise price of $1.75. 
The warrants expire on April 30, 2008.
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6.  COMMITMENTS

Operating Leases  Fuel Tech leases office space, autos and certain equipment under agreements expiring on various dates through 
2011. Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases that have initial or remaining lease terms in excess of 
one year as of December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

Year of Payment Amount

2006 $504
2007 463
2008 444
2009 337
2010 33
Thereafter 6

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, rent expense approximated $778,000, $640,000 and $618,000, respectively.

Fuel Tech has a sublease agreement that obligates the lessee to make future payments. The sublease obligations noted below are 
related to a sublease agreement between FTI and American Bailey Corporation (ABC). ABC will reimburse FTI for its share of lease 
and lease-related expenses under FTI’s January 29, 2004 lease of its executive offices in Stamford, Connecticut. Please refer to 
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the relation between FTI and ABC. The future minimum lease 
payments under this non-cancellable sublease as of December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

Year of Payment Amount

2006 $96
2007 97
2008 96
2009 97
2010 8
Thereafter —

The terms of the two primary lease arrangements are as follows:

•  The Batavia, Illinois building lease term runs from June 1, 1999 to May 31, 2009. Fuel Tech has the option to extend the lease 
term for two successive terms of five years each at market rates to be agreed upon between Fuel Tech and the lessor. 

•  The current Stamford, Connecticut building lease term runs from February 1, 2004 to January 31, 2010. Fuel Tech has the 
option to extend the lease term for one successive term of five years at a market rate to be agreed upon between Fuel Tech and 
the lessor. Fuel Tech was provided with a 10-month “free rent” period under this lease, and the total minimum lease payments 
are being amortized over the lease term. The deferred rent liability is $177,000 at December 31, 2005, of which $20,000 and 
$157,000 are recorded in current “Other accrued liabilities” and long-term “Other liabilities,” respectively, on the consolidated 
balance sheet. Under the sublease noted above, ABC was also provided with a 10-month “free rent” period, and the total 
minimum lease rentals are also being amortized over the lease term. The deferred rent receivable is $67,000 at December 31, 
2005, of which $8,000 and $59,000 are recorded in current “Prepaid expenses and other current assets” and long-term “Other 
assets,” respectively, on the consolidated balance sheet. 

None of Fuel Tech’s lease arrangements are adjusted based on an index feature.

Performance Guarantees  The majority of Fuel Tech’s long-term equipment construction contracts contain language guaranteeing 
that the performance of the system that is being sold to the customer will meet specific criteria. On occasion, bank performance 
guarantees and letters of credit are issued to the customer in support of the construction contracts as follows:

• In support of the warranty period defined in the contract, or 
• In support of the system performance criteria that are defined in the contract.

As of December 31, 2005, Fuel Tech has outstanding bank performance guarantees and letters of credit in the amount of $2,604,000 
in support of equipment construction contracts that have not completed their final acceptance test or that are still operating under a 
warranty period. Management of Fuel Tech believes that these projects will be successfully completed and that there will not be a 
materially adverse impact on Fuel Tech’s operations from these bank performance guarantees and letters of credit.
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7.  DEBT FINANCING

FTI had a $10.0 million revolving credit facility expiring July 31, 2004, which was collateralized by all personal property owned by 
FTI. Effective June 30, 2004, FTI amended the facility to increase the line to $15.0 million and extend the expiration date until July 
31, 2006. FTI can use this facility for cash advances and standby letters of credit. Cash advances under this facility bear interest 
based on the following:

• The Bank Prime Rate reduced by a range of zero to 50 basis points, or 
• The Bank Interbank Offering Rate increased by a range of 200 to 250 basis points.

The Company can choose which rate to apply to borrowings. 

At December 31, 2005, the bank had provided standby letters of credit, predominantly to customers, totaling approximately 
$2,704,000 in connection with contracts in process. This amount includes the $2,604,000 in bank performance guarantees and 
letters of credit as referred to in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. FTI is committed to reimbursing the issuing bank 
for any payments made by the bank under these letters of credit. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, there were no cash borrowings 
under the revolving credit facility and approximately $12,296,000 was available.

There were no required interest payments in 2005 or 2004, and interest payments were $39,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003.

8.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As of December 31, 2005, Fuel Tech has a 7% common stock ownership interest in Clean Diesel Technologies, Inc. (CDT), which 
is being accounted for using the cost method. Fuel Tech is precluded from selling its interest in CDT except pursuant to a registra-
tion statement, or in a broker/dealer transaction within the limitations of Rule 144 of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), 
or in an exempt private placement within the limitations of Rule 144 of the SEC. Fuel Tech’s investment in CDT, whose shares are 
publicly traded on the OTC Bulletin Board and the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange, had a market 
value of $1.8 million at December 31, 2005, which is not reflected on Fuel Tech’s balance sheet. Fuel Tech also owns 25,000 warrants 
to purchase CDT common stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $2.00 and can be exercised on or before November 14, 2010. 
The value assigned to the warrants on the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2005 and 2004 is not significant.

On August 3, 1995, Fuel Tech signed a Management and Services Agreement with CDT. According to the agreement, CDT is to 
reimburse Fuel Tech for management, services and administrative expenses incurred by Fuel Tech on behalf of CDT. Additionally, 
Fuel Tech charges CDT an additional 3% of such costs annually. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, $71,000, 
$70,000 and $69,000, respectively, was charged to CDT as a management fee.

Pursuant to an assignment agreement of certain technology to CDT, Fuel Tech is due royalties from CDT of 2.5% of CDT’s annual 
revenue from sales of CDT’s Platinum Fuel Catalyst, commencing in 1998. The royalty obligation expires in 2008. CDT may termi-
nate the royalty obligation to Fuel Tech by payment of $12 million commencing in 1998 and declining annually to $1,090,910 in 
2008. CDT, as assignee and owner, will maintain the technology at its own expense. To date, Fuel Tech has received approximately 
$21,000 in royalties. Fuel Tech intends to record royalties from CDT on a cash basis.

On April 30, 1998, FTI entered into an agreement with ABC for it to provide certain management and consulting services to FTI. 
Persons now or formerly associated with ABC currently own 24% of Fuel Tech’s Common Shares and warrants to purchase an 
additional 2.1 million shares, which expire on April 30, 2008. No fees were to be payable under the agreement for the first 24 
months. This agreement was amended in 1999 to extend its term to April 30, 2002, and provide for the payment of a management 
fee of $10,417 per month commencing September 1, 1999, through May 1, 2000, and $20,833 per month until the termination of the 
agreement. The agreement was further amended effective May 1, 2002 to increase the management fee to $29,167 per month until 
the termination of the agreement as of April 30, 2004. Effective January 1, 2004, this agreement was terminated. 

As of January 1, 2004, two former employees of ABC who were Directors of Fuel Tech became employees of FTI. Concurrently, in 
early 2004, a new agreement was put in place between FTI and ABC. Effective January 1, 2004, a compensation agreement was 
established whereby ABC will reimburse FTI for certain services that employees of FTI will provide to ABC. In addition, ABC is a 
sublessee under FTI’s January 29, 2004 lease of its executive offices in Stamford, Connecticut. ABC will reimburse FTI for its share 
of lease and lease-related expenses under the sublease agreement. Please refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for a 
further discussion of this topic. $37,000 is due from ABC at December 31, 2005, related to the compensation and sublease agreements. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
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9.  DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

Fuel Tech has a retirement savings plan available for all U.S. employees who have met minimum length-of-service requirements. 
Fuel Tech’s contributions are determined based upon amounts contributed by Fuel Tech’s employees with additional contributions 
made at the discretion of Fuel Tech’s Board of Directors. Costs related to this plan were $285,000, $300,000 and $341,000 in 2005, 
2004 and 2003, respectively.

10.  BUSINESS SEGMENT, GEOGRAPHIC AND QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

Business Segment Financial Data  Fuel Tech is organized into three reportable segments, two that provide advanced engineering 
solutions for the optimization of combustion systems in utility and industrial applications, and one that markets and sells visuali-
zation software. 

The two segments that comprise the advanced engineering solutions product offerings are as follows:

•   The nitrogen oxide (NOx) reduction technology segment, which includes the NOxOUT®, NOxOUT CASCADE®, and 
NOxOUT-SCR® processes for the reduction of NOx emissions in flue gas from boilers, incinerators, furnaces and other sta-
tionary combustion sources, and

•   The fuel treatment chemical segment, which uses chemical processes for the control of slagging, fouling, and corrosion  
and for plume abatement in furnaces and boilers through the addition of chemicals into the fuel or via a TIFI™ Targeted  
In-Furnace Injection™ program. 

The visualization software segment was discontinued in the first quarter of 2005 and it does not meet the materiality test for disclosure. 
This segment is aggregated in “Other” below. In addition, “Other” also includes those profit and loss items not allocated by Fuel Tech 
to each reportable segment. Lastly, there are no intersegment sales that require elimination.

Fuel Tech evaluates performance and allocates resources based on reviewing gross margin by reportable segment. The accounting 
policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the “Summary of significant accounting policies.” Fuel Tech 
does not review assets by reportable segment, but rather, in aggregate for Fuel Tech as a whole.

Information about reporting segment net sales and gross margin are provided below (in thousands):

For the year ended December 31, 2005   Nitrogen Oxide Reduction Fuel Treatment Chemical Other  Total

Net sales from external customers $32,650 $20,272 $ 6 $52,928
Cost of sales  16,744  10,096  278 27,118

Gross margin 15,906 10,176 (272) 25,810
Selling, general and administrative — — 17,414 17,414
Research and development  —  —  1,211 1,211

Operating income (loss)  $15,906  $10,176  $(18,897) $ 7,185

For the year ended December 31, 2004   Nitrogen Oxide Reduction Fuel Treatment Chemical Other  Total

Net sales from external customers $14,602 $16,216 $ 14 $30,832
Cost of sales  8,458  7,797  311 16,566

Gross margin 6,144 8,419 (297) 14,266
Selling, general and administrative — — 12,775 12,775
Research and development  —  —  1,242 1,242

Operating income (loss)  $ 6,144  $ 8,419  $(14,314) $ 249

For the year ended December 31, 2003   Nitrogen Oxide Reduction Fuel Treatment Chemical Other  Total

Net sales from external customers $25,404 $10,315 $ 17 $35,736
Cost of sales  16,886  4,672  231 21,789

Gross margin 8,518 5,643 (214) 13,947
Selling, general and administrative — — 11,659 11,659
Research and development  —  —  1,287 1,287

Operating income (loss)  $ 8,518  $ 5,643  $(13,160) $ 1,001

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
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Geographic Segment Financial Data  Information concerning Fuel Tech’s operations by geographic area is provided below. 
Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of the customer. Assets are those directly associated with operations of 
the geographic area.

For the years ended December 31 

(in thousands)  2005  2004  2003

Net sales:
United States $41,721 $26,093 $30,965
Foreign  11,207  4,739  4,771

  $52,928  $30,832  $35,736

December 31

  2005  2004  2003

Assets:
United States $39,006 $21,641 $19,487
Foreign  4,020  2,187  2,111

  $43,026  $23,828  $21,598

During 2005, Fuel Tech realized 13.1% of its revenues from one customer. This customer utilized the product line offered by Fuel 
Tech’s Nitrogen Oxide Reduction business segment. 

Quarterly Financial Data  Set forth below are the unaudited quarterly financial data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 
2005 and 2004.

For the quarters ended

(in thousands, except share data) March 31 June 30  September 30 December 31

 2005(a)

 Net sales $12,051 $11,780 $12,821 $16,276
 Cost of sales 6,397 6,053 6,467 8,201
 Net income 753 3,172 1,048 2,615
 Net income per Common Share:

 Basic $ 0.04 $ 0.16 $ 0.05 $ 0.13
 Diluted $ 0.03 $ 0.14 $ 0.05 $ 0.11

2004(b) 

Net sales $ 6,152 $ 7,352 $ 9,577 $ 7,751
Cost of sales 3,216 4,196 4,813 4,341
Net (loss) income (531) (308) 1,001 1,410
Net (loss) income per Common Share: 

Basic $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ 0.05 $ 0.07
Diluted $ (0.03) $ (0.02) $ 0.05 $ 0.06

(a)  Based on a review of both historical and projected taxable income, at June 30, 2005 Fuel Tech concluded that it is more likely than not that some portion of its 
net operating losses would be utilized in subsequent years and that a reduction in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance needed to be recorded. Fuel Tech 
recorded a reduction in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $2,200,000 in the second quarter of 2005, representing the anticipated utilization of net 
operating loss carryforwards in subsequent years. 

  In the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2005, Fuel Tech recorded a $2,099,000 reduction in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance primarily due to the 
anticipated utilization of net operating loss and research and development tax credit carryforwards. Based on a review of both historical and projected taxable 
income at the end of December 31, 2005, Fuel Tech concluded that it was more likely than not that carryforwards would be utilized in subsequent periods and that 
a reduction in the deferred tax valuation allowance was required. 

(b)  Based on a review of both historical and projected taxable income, Fuel Tech concluded that it is more likely than not that some portion of its net operating 
losses would be utilized in subsequent years and that a reduction in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance needed to be recorded. Fuel Tech recorded a 
reduction in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $1,500,000 in the fourth quarter of 2004, representing the anticipated utilization of net operating loss 
carryforwards in subsequent years.

The total of the basic and diluted net (loss) income amounts per share for the four quarters ending December 31, 2004 does not sum 
to the amounts presented on the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ending December 31, 2004.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

11.  PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (in thousands)

Balance Sheets (at December 31)  2005  2004  

Assets: 
Receivable and other current assets  $ 116 $ 145
Investments in subsidiaries  29,359  18,958  

Total assets  $ 29,475 $ 19,103 

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:  
Liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 339 $ 148
Shareholders’ equity    29,136  18,955

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity    $ 29,475  $ 19,103   

Statements of Income (for the years ended December 31)  2005  2004  2003  

Loss from operations $ (1,024) $ (772) $ (763)
Income from equity investment in subsidiary   8,612  2,344  1,883 

Net income   $ 7,588  $ 1,572  $ 1,120 

Statements of Cash Flows (for the years ended December 31)  2005  2004  2003  

Operating activities: 
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (804) $ (764) $ (880)

Investing activities: 
Net cash provided by investing activities   —   —   — 

Financing activities: 
Repayments from FTI (426) 730 1,532
Exercise of stock options 1,230 34 323
Purchase of treasury stock/other — — (35)
Purchase of shares to be retired  — — (940)

Net cash provided by financing activities 804 764 880
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents — — —
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  —   —   — 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Basis of Presentation:  In the parent company financial statements, Fuel Tech’s investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost plus 
equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries since the date of acquisition. Fuel Tech’s share of net income of its unconsolidated 
subsidiaries is included in “Consolidated income” using the equity method. The parent company financial statements should be read 
in conjunction with Fuel Tech’s consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None
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Disclosure controls and procedures  As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
(the “Exchange Act”), Fuel Tech’s management carried out an evaluation, with the participation of Fuel Tech’s Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of Fuel Tech’s disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the last 
fiscal quarter.

Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2005, 
Fuel Tech’s disclosure controls and procedures were operating effectively to ensure that information required to be disclosed by 
Fuel Tech in the reports that Fuel Tech files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, 
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. 

Internal control over financial reporting  Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and our Indepen-
dent Registered Public Accounting Firm’s Attestation Report are included in “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Change in internal control over financial reporting  There were no significant changes in internal controls or in other factors 
that could significantly affect these controls during the quarter ended December 31, 2005.

Controls and Procedures
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Fuel-Tech N.V. 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial 
Reporting, that Fuel-Tech N.V. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on 
criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Fuel-Tech N.V.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control 
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over finan-
cial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control 
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control 
over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projec-
tions of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Fuel-Tech N.V. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Fuel-Tech N.V.  
has maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the 
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of Fuel-Tech N.V. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the related consolidated statements of income, 
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 of Fuel-Tech N.V. and our 
report dated March 8, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Chicago, Illinois
March 8, 2006 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Fuel-Tech N.V.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fuel-Tech N.V. as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the 
related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of Fuel-Tech N.V. at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of Fuel-Tech N.V.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and 
our report dated March 8, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Chicago, Illinois
March 8, 2006

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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Table of Defined Terms

Term

ABC

AES

APC

CAAA

CDT

CFD

Common Shares

Common Stock

EPA

EPRI

FTI

FUEL CHEM®

Fuel Tech

Investors

Loan Notes

NOx

NOxOUT CASCADE®

NOxOUT® Process

NOxOUT-SCR®

NOxOUT ULTRA®

Rich Reagent Injection 
Technology (RRI)

SCR

SIP Call

SNCR

TDITM Targeted Duct InjectionTM

TIFITM Targeted In-Furnace 
InjectionTM

Definition

American Bailey Corporation

Advanced Engineering Services

Air Pollution Control

Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990

Clean Diesel Technologies, Inc. 

Computational Fluid Dynamics

Shares of the Common Stock of Fuel Tech

Common Stock of Fuel Tech

Environmental Protection Agency

Electric Power Research Institute

Fuel Tech, Inc.

A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s fuel and flue gas treatment processes, including its  
TIFITM Targeted In-Furnace InjectionTM programs for slagging, fouling and corrosion control and 
plume abatement

Fuel-Tech N.V. and its subsidiaries and affiliates

The purchasers of Fuel Tech securities pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement as of March 23, 1998

Nil Coupon Non-redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Notes of Fuel Tech

Oxides of nitrogen

A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s combination of NOxOUT and SCR

A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s SNCR process for the reduction of NOx

A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s use of urea used as a catalyst reagent

A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s process for generating ammonia for use as SCR reagent

An SNCR-type process that broadens the NOx reduction capability of the NOxOUT Process at a cost 
similar to NOxOUT. RRI can also be applied on a stand-alone basis.

Selective Catalytic Reduction

State Implementation Plan Regulation

Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction

FUEL CHEM’s programs for mitigating formation of sulfur trioxide

FUEL CHEM’s programs for slagging, fouling and corrosion control and plume abatement
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Corporate Information

Stock Information

As of March 6, 2006, there were 339 registered holders and approximately 5,943 
beneficial holders of Fuel Tech’s Common Shares. The Company’s Common 
Shares are listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (Symbol: FTEK). High 
and low share prices are as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Share Price Share Price Share Price
High Low High Low High Low

 First Quarter $ 6.85 $4.60 $5.60 $3.40 $5.00 $3.01
 Second Quarter 7.20 5.10 5.30 3.79 5.85 3.07
 Third Quarter 10.13 5.75 5.24 3.94 6.21 4.72
 Fourth Quarter 10.12 7.24 5.45 4.15 5.52 2.89
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Fuel Tech, the stylized Fuel Tech logo, FUEL CHEM, the stylized FUEL CHEM logo, NOxOUT, NOxOUT CASCADE, NOxOUT-SCR, NOxOUT ULTRA, TDI Targeted 
Duct Injection, and TIFI Targeted In-Furnace Injection are registered trademarks of Fuel Tech, Inc.
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